
Page 1  of 9 
Planning Commission Minutes 

Special Meeting – Thursday, March 12, 2020 

 

 

CITY OF ELIZABETH CITY 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
SPECIAL MEETING 
THURSDAY, MARCH 12, 2020 

4:00 PM 
 

MEMBERS PRESENT 

Ernest Sutton - Chairman 
Johnson Biggs - Vice Chairman 
Carlton O'Neal 
Suzanne Stallings (absent) 
Gary White 

 
Also present were Carter M. Thompson, Director of Community Development; Kellen 
Long, Planner; Angela Cole, Assistant City Manager; and members of the audience, 
including the newly appointment planning commission member, Kevin Johnson. 

 
Chairman Sutton called the meeting to order at approximately 4:00 PM and stated a 
quorum. 

 
Chairman Sutton called for a motion to approve the agenda as presented. Mr. Biggs 
made a motion to APPROVE the agenda as presented. Mr. white seconded the motion. 
ALL IN FAVOR: O'Neal, White, AND Biggs. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION 
CARRIED. 

 

Chairman Sutton called for a motion to approve the Tuesday, February 4, 2020 Planning 
Commission minutes. Mr. White made a motion to APPROVE the Tuesday, February 4, 
2020 Planning Commission minutes. Mr. O'Neal seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: 
O'Neal, White, and Biggs. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED. 

 
Ms. Long, read the STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE as follows: 

 

Elizabeth City Code of Ethics provides that public officials and employees be 

independent, impartial, and responsible to the public; that government decisions and 

policy be made in proper channels of the governmental structure; that public office not 

be used for personal gain; and that the public have confidence in the integrity of its 

government. In recognition of these goals and in keeping with the ethical standards of 

conduct for city public officials and its employees, disclosure of interest in legislative 

action must be stated for public record, as per City of Elizabeth City Code of Ordinances 

Section 32.04. Any official act or action before the Planning Commission shall be 

publicly disclose on the record of the Commission the nature and extent of such interest 



Page 2  of 9 
Planning Commission Minutes 

Special Meeting – Thursday, March 12, 2020 

 

and the Commissioner shall withdraw from any consideration of the matter if excused 

by the Commission pursuant to G. S. 160 A-75. 

Chairman Sutton read the new business item as follows: 

CASE NO: TA 01-20 is a proposal to clarify and modify the development regulations 
for the Halstead Boulevard Extension Overlay District, specifically Article XII, Section 12- 
10 and Article XI, Sections 11-1.1(J) and (U). 

 

Ms. Thompson presented the following Staff report: 

Ms. Thompson explained that once she arrived in Elizabeth City, she was tasked to look 

over the Halstead Extension Blvd Overlay District. Ms. Thompson explained that the 

current regulations in the Halstead Ext. Overlay District have proven to be hard for 

developers to meet in a land development and design prospective, and then also in 

regards to cost of those standards. Ms. Thompson explained that once she evaluated 

the entire Halstead Overlay Ordinance, that the entire section needed to be revised and 

updated. 

Ms. Thompson explained the flow of the staff analysis and how to read the text 

amendment draft, explaining the text strikethrough in red is proposed text to be 

deleted, while red text underlined, is proposed new text to be added. 

Ms. Thompson then asked the Commission how they wanted to review the proposed 

text amendment and explained that she had a PowerPoint presentation prepared to 

highlight the major items. 

Mr. Sutton asked the preference of the Commission. Mr. White stated that he will yield 

to the Chair. 

Mr. Biggs stated that he would like this text amendment to be reviewed in its entirely 

during the meeting, so that the text amendment can move as quickly as possible, so it 

can be forwarded to City Council. 

Chairman Sutton stated that it was in the interest in the Commission to proceed with 

the text amendment review in its entirely during the meeting. 

Ms. Thompson then proceeded with the staff analysis overview, explaining the 

proposed changes. 

Ms. Thompson started with Chapter 11. She explained that staff added a definition for 

entry markers. In Chapter 12, landscaping, pedestrian walkways, portal monuments, 

storm water ponds were all addressed, revised, or completely deleted. The proposed 

text amendment in Chapter 12 also included an administrative variance. 



Page 3  of 9 
Planning Commission Minutes 

Special Meeting – Thursday, March 12, 2020 

 

Mr. O’Neal asked for clarity on the order of the staff analysis and the proposed text 

amendment. Ms. Long explained how to read the changes and the order in which they 

were located. 

Ms. Thompson then proceed with the staff analysis report. Ms. Thompson explained 

that since we were changing the entry marker section in the Halstead Ext. Overlay 

District in Chapter 12, that the definition of entry markers also had to be changed in the 

sign ordinance section in Chapter 11. Ms. Thompson then proceeded to read the 

proposed definition as follows: 

The primary purpose of entry markers is to announce the name of a commercial 
or residential subdivision or development and to identify key anchors within the 
project. Entry markers may be used for developments of at least 10 acres in 
size, or with a minimum of four businesses with at least 100,000 square feet of 
floor area. 

Ms. Thompson stated that the proposed changes with the entry marker signs in Chapter 

12 included allowing a maximum of ten (10) individual businesses to use the sign for 

advertisement, rather than a maximum of four (4) individual businesses. 

Ms. Thompson then proceeded with the landscaping section of the ordinance in Chapter 

12, section 2. 

Ms. Thompson stated the changes to the landscaping section included a reduction in 

the required landscaping for the Halstead Boulevard Buffer. This reduction included 

changes to the amount of required trees to be planted, from one tree per each 500 

square feet to one tree per each 1,500 square feet. The reduction for the shrub count 

in the Halstead Boulevard Buffer, changed from one shrub every 50 square feet, to one 

shrub every 400 square feet. 

Ms. Thompson also stated that the proposed text amendment also included eliminating 

the 20% enhanced landscaping area in the vehicular surface areas. The proposed text 

amendment for landscaping in the vehicular surface area will now reference the regular 

ordinance in Chapter 11, section 3.1 (D). 

Ms. Thompson then explained a case study that was included in the staff analysis 

packet that demonstrates the actual landscaping plant count, to show the difference 

from the current landscaping ordinance to the proposed text amendment. Mr. 

Thompson explained that the particular development/lot was specifically chosen for a 

case study because it demonstrated the “worst case” scenario in terms of landscaping 

in the Halstead Overlay District because it was a corner lot, with three road frontages 

and extensive utilities. 

Ms. Thompson then proceeded with the proposed amendments, starting with Chapter 

12, section 2 (K). Ms. Thompson stated in order for landscape islands to thrive, it is 



Page 4  of 9 
Planning Commission Minutes 

Special Meeting – Thursday, March 12, 2020 

 

important for developers to provide paved pedestrian walking paths through parking 

lots to avoid foot travel through the landscape islands. 

Ms. Thompson then explained the examples given of paved pedestrian walkways in the 

PowerPoint presentation provided. 

The staff report proceeded to Chapter 12, section 7, which described Portal Monument 

requirements in the Halstead Ext. Overlay District. Ms. Thompson explained that the 

proposed text amendment deletes this section in its entirely. 

Ms. Thompson then proceeded with Storm Water Ponds in Chapter 12, section 8 (c). 

The proposed text amendment for this section included eliminating the requirement 

that all ponds shall be aerated with a fountain or waterfall type feature. Ms. Thompson 

explained that this text was discussed with our Public Utilities Director, Ms. Amanda 

Boone. Ms. Boone agreed the aerated requirement should be deleted from the text. 

Ms. Thompson proceeded with the last proposed text amendment in the Halstead Ext. 

Overlay District. The new language in Chapter 12, section 8 (I) would include an 

administrative variance section that gives the Community Development Director the 

ability to make minor modifications up to 10% of the current requirements for items 

such as landscaping, parking, signage, and lighting. 

This concluded Ms. Thompson presentation. 

Ms. Thompson asked the Commission if there were any comments or questions. 

Mr. White stated that he liked the idea of the administrative variance language in the 

proposed text amendment and explained his concerns in the past with requirements he 

believed to be “overkill”, specifically stating a property on North Hughes Blvd that was 

granted a special use permit for a Pawn Shop. 

Chairman Sutton asked if there were any other comments from the Commission or 

Staff. 

Ms. Long did state for the record that staff had received a few comments from Mr. Alvin 

McPherson who was on the City’s Landscape Committee when the text amendment to 

the Halstead Overlay ordinance was first being considered. Mr. McPherson’s comments 

are as follows: 

 Mr. McPherson had concerns regarding the requirements of street trees in 

subdivisions, specifically commercial subdivisions, between the curb and 

sidewalk. Mr. McPherson stated that often times the trees cannot grow 

properly because there is such little space. Ms. McPherson also stated that 

often times utilities run through this space. 

 Mr. McPherson stated that he was pleased to see the aerated requirement 

be deleted from the storm water management section of the ordinance, 



Page 5  of 9 
Planning Commission Minutes 

Special Meeting – Thursday, March 12, 2020 

 

however, he still had concerns with the language to incorporate walking 

trails and pedestrian benches around the perimeter of the ponds because 

he believed that it was inviting the public and his concern was the liability 

of this. Mr. McPherson also stated his concern with the requirement of 

lighting of these areas because of the cost of electrical fees and having to 

extend utilities. 

 Mr. McPherson also stated to staff that an idea he had for landscaping in 

the vehicular surface area is to give an option to developers that if they 

were to have two seasonal planting change outs, then they would be 

allowed to provide a certain percentage less of the required landscaping, 

as an incentive. 

Ms. Long stated that staff would be considering these comments along with any other 

comments we might receive. It was also stated for the record that the comments 

directed towards the storm water pond section will be evaluated by our Public Utilities 

Director, Ms. Amanda Boone and the North Carolina Department of Environmental 

Quality. 

Mr. Biggs asked for clarity on Mr. McPherson’s comments regarding landscaping and 

aesthetics as a storm water pond requirement. 

Ms. Thompson and Ms. Long explained that a lot of the requirements with storm water 

ponds come from the Department of Environmental Quality. Ms. Thompson and Ms. 

Long further explained that Mr. McPherson’s mains concerns were regarding the liability 

of the pond once the aesthetics are provided because Mr. McPherson felt it would be 

inviting the public. 

Mr. Biggs stated that he agreed with Mr. McPherson’s comments in regard to the storm 

water pond and he understand why Mr. McPherson would have concerns for liability 

purposes. 

Ms. Thompson stated that it was not unusual to have requirements such as these for 

storm water ponds. She stated that sometimes these requirements work and sometimes 

they don’t, depending on the type of development. 

Mr. Biggs stated that he understood that the Halstead Overlay district covers a variety 

of zoning districts, however, he stated that he did not think that storm water ponds in 

commercial areas needed walking trails around them. He stated that he found this to be 

more appropriate in residential zoning districts and neighborhoods. 

This concluded the discussion on the comments staff had received. 

Ms. Thompson asked the Commission how they would like to proceed moving forward 

with the review. 



Page 6  of 9 
Planning Commission Minutes 

Special Meeting – Thursday, March 12, 2020 

 

Mr. Biggs stated that he had one question regarding page 7 in the staff analysis. He 

stated item F discusses weather protection features. He stated the on page 7, the 

proposed text amendment removes “having a width at least double that of the doorway 
over which they are located”, while on page 10 of the staff analysis, the proposed text 

amendment leaves this exact language in the document. 

Ms. Long and Ms. Thompson stated that this will be corrected during our revisions. 

Mr. Biggs made an additional comment regarding letter A, under the landscaping and 

Buffering section on page 7 in the staff analysis. He stated the knows in the past, it was 

a requirement of the City that the dumpster enclosure material must match that of the 

building material. 

Ms. Thompson stated that she did not see language in this section that described that 

requirement, however she stated it might be a part of the requirement in the regular 

City ordinance. Ms. Thompson stated that this would be addressed to make sure 

nothing was left out of this section. 

Ms. Thompson stated her intention of the screening section in regards to dumpster 

enclosures. She explained her reasoning for taking out the berm option because they 

are never used in development around the City and they are very hard to construct. 

She explained that with the proposed text amendment, it gives the developers options 

for screening material. It also lets the developer use some of the already required 

landscaping for different purposes. 

This concluded the comments and questions from the Planning Commission and the 

public. 

Chairmen Sutton stated that if there were no more comments, the Chairmen would 

entertain a motion to approve TA 01-20. 

Mr. Biggs made a motion to APPROVE TA 01-20. Mr. White seconded the motion. 

Ms. Angela Cole approached the podium from the audience to speak to the 

Commission. 

Ms. Cole proposed a question to the Commission before the text amendment was 

officially approved and moved forward to City Council for consideration. 

Ms. Cole stated that Ms. Thompson and Ms. Long asked for feedback from several 

developers, engineers, and public members to provide comments on the proposed text 

amendment. Ms. Cole stated that before we move this to Council, we want to make 

sure we consider all avenues and feedback. Ms. Cole stated that she has added the 

River City Community Development Corporation to the list of contacts for review of the 

proposed text amendment. Ms. Cole asked the Commission if they can think of any 

other contacts that would need to review the proposed text amendment. 



Page 7  of 9 
Planning Commission Minutes 

Special Meeting – Thursday, March 12, 2020 

 

Mr. Biggs asked who else was on the landscape Committee with Mr. Alvin McPherson. 

Ms. Long gave the following names: Ms. Suzanne Stallings, Ms. Amanda Boone, Mr. 

Jeffrey Simpson, Shelley Cox, and Andy Pollard. 

Ms. Thompson added that there is a developer that owns property behind Hall Honda 

that has been included in the proposed text amendment. The developer could not 

attend the meeting, however, the developer has been asked to provide written 

comments to our planning staff. 

Mr. Biggs referred back to Mr. McPherson’s comments on the subdivision tree 

requirement. Mr. Biggs asked if Mr. McPherson had a problem with the 50-foot distance 

between the trees. 

Ms. Long responded to Mr. Biggs’ question that the issue wasn’t with the distance in- 

between the trees planted, as it was for the distance in-between the sidewalk and curb 

for the trees to grow properly. Ms. Thompson added in that often times utilities run 

through this space, as well. 

Chairman Sutton addressed Ms. Cole to ask if she knew of any other entities that 

needed to be included in the discussion for the proposed text amendment. Ms. Cole 

stated that she did not know of any others that should be included, however, she 

explained that once the text amendment reaches City Council for a public hearing, that 

all properties owners would be notified of the public hearing date and time for public 

comment. 

Mr. White asked if the property owners needed to be notified of the proposed text 

amendment before it gets to City Council for review, so that the planning commission 

can hear from the public. 

Ms. Cole stated that staff could slow the process just a little and mail to all property 

owners within the Halstead Ext. Overlay District, so that planning commission could 

hear their feedback before it reaches a public hearing. 

Mr. Biggs asked if it would be too much for Staff to also look at the vehicular surface 

area landscaping requirement for the entire City in Chapter 11, in additional to the 

Halstead Ext. Overlay District. 

Ms. Thompson stated that she has plans to update the entire UDO, however, her 

imitate attention was to update the Halstead Ext. Overlay District in its entirety. 

However, she would entertain the idea of updating the vehicular surface area 

landscaping requirement in chapter 11 to be included in this proposed text amendment. 

This concluded the Commission’s discussion. 



Page 8  of 9 
Planning Commission Minutes 

Special Meeting – Thursday, March 12, 2020 

 

Chairman Sutton stated that based on the discussion with the Commission, Staff and 

the comments received thus far, it seems appropriate to pause until we can address the 

comments and questions received. Chairman Sutton stated that he would entertain a 

motion to delay. 

Mr. White made a motion to DELAY the recommendation for approval of TA 01-20 to 

City Council until all comments and questions are considered. 

Mr. Biggs seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: O'Neal, White, AND Biggs. NONE 
OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED. 

 
Staff Report: 

 

Ms. Thompson started the staff report by making a formal introduction to the 
Commission of Mr. Kevin Johnson. Ms. Thompson stated that Mr. Kevin Johnson had 
been officially appointed by City Council to the Planning Commission on February 24th. 

 
Mr. Johnson provided an introduction to the Commission. 

 
Ms. Thompson proceeded with the staff report. Ms. Thompson stated to the 
Commission that the City was in the middle of budgetary season and two of the major 
things Ms. Thompson had included as a request for this year’s budget included a 
comprehensive plan and a potential online permitting system for all three divisions in 
the Community Development Department. 

 

There were no further staff items to report. 

 

Chairman’s Report: 
 
Chairman Sutton stated his concerns of the Corona Virus pandemic and how it affects 
planning and the City in general. 

 
Ms. Thompson stated the City’s current procedures in place to reduce the spread of 
COVID-19. 

 

Chairman Sutton stated that another important item he would like to discuss is the 
planning commission and Staff’s community engagement and transparency. He stated 
that he would like to meet with Ms. Thompson to discuss these items at a later date. 

 
This concluded the Chairman’s report. 

 

Member Concerns: 



Page 9  of 9 
Planning Commission Minutes 

Special Meeting – Thursday, March 12, 2020 

 

Mr. O’Neal asked for clarity in reading the proposed text amendment document. Staff 
asked Mr. O’Neal to come by the office so they could review the staff analysis with him. 

 

This concluded the member concerns. 

 
Mr. Biggs made a motion to ADJOURN the Thursday, March 12, 2020 Special Planning 
Commission meeting. Mr. White seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: O'NEAL, 
WHITE, AND BIGGS. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED. 

 
Planning Commission adjourned at 4:48 PM. 

 
 
Respectively submitted, 

 
 
Kellen Long 
Planner II 


